
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting. 

Please ask for: 
Graham Seal 

 
 
 

12 July 2019 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Monday 22 July 2019  at 7.30pm in the Council Chamber, 
Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as correct records the Minutes of the annual meeting held on 20 May 
and the extraordinary meeting held on 19 June 2019 (previously circulated). 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence, if any. 
 

3.   PETITIONS  
 

 The Mayor will receive petitions (limited to the first three petitions presented). 
 

4.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

 A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough. 
 

Public Document Pack



5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda. 
 

6.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service. 
 

7.   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough. 
 
Details of questions received in accordance with Procedure Rule 15 will be 
circulated and published.  A Member asking a question may ask, without giving 
notice, one supplementary question of the Member to whom the first question 
was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply. 
 

8.   MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET  
 

 To consider recommendations from the meetings of the Cabinet on 4 June and 
9 July 2019:- 
 

4 JUNE 2019 
 

(a)    Food Safety Service Plan 2019/20 (Pages 9 - 14) 
 

(b)    Health and Safety Service Plan 2019/20 (Pages 15 - 20) 
 

9 JULY 2019 
 

(c)    Animal Activities Licensing Fees (Pages 21 - 38) 
 

(d)    Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2019-2024 (Pages 39 - 46) 
 

9.   NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 16 (Pages 47 - 48) 
 

 To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 16 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct.  Details of motions received by the deadline of 12noon 
on 15 July 2019 will be circulated separately. 
 
 
 
 
 



10.   WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE 
(Pages 49 - 68) 
 

 Report of the Chief Executive attaching the Feedback Report and Action Plan 
following the Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge 
undertaken at the Council between 21-24 January 2019.  
 

11.   URGENT MATTERS  
 

 To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 5.1(s). 
 

 
Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Corporate Management Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Item No: 7 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL MEETING – 22 JULY 2019 
 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 15 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY 
MEMBERS  
 
Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 15:- 
 
1. Question to the Leader from Councillor Kieran Thorpe 
 

“Does the leader agree with me that it was disappointing that the County Council’s 
community safety committee recently voted to reduce crews on Fire Engines in 
Hertfordshire, despite this Councils repeated calls that this would put residents and 
firefighters alike at risk?” 
 
Answer 
 
“Thank you for your question.  
 
We have over the last twelve months discussed the importance of the fire 
service in the county a few times and agreed cross party that no merger 
should happen with the PCC, which we were successful in helping prevent.  
We also wrote to the Leader of the county council expressing opposition to 
any reduction in the fire service in Welwyn Hatfield.  However, I said the last 
time that we discussed this as a motion that came to council in November, 
that although we did not support a merger with the PCC, we did want an 
efficient and value for money fire service and believe that decisions made by 
the county council are on the basis of efficiency without affecting the level of 
service. This decision is one of these and so I cannot agree with the main 
sentiment of your question.” 

 
2. Question to the Leader from Councillor Anthony Dennis 
 

“The recent application for change of use of the Debenhams building from retail to 
part residential contained an accompanying marketing report from Brasier Freeth.  
 
This report sets out in the clearest terms the striking lack of interest there is by a 
long list of established retailers in locating a branch in the Debenhams building, or 
even in Welwyn Garden City itself, and the market reasons for this. It paints a very 
worrying picture for the future of the town centre.  
 
In the light of this report, and the need to follow a strategy which will give us the 
best balance of the right kind of retail, are the Council seriously prioritising a 
proactive approach (as similar authorities around the country have done), to 
planning decisions in the town centre, including the proposed Town Centre North 
plan, which will reflect this harsh reality?  
 
Does Welwyn Garden City need a 'Town Centre Tsar'? 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Answer 
 
“Thank you for your question Cllr Dennis. 
 
Like you, we were all concerned when we heard the news regarding the 
Debenhams store in Welwyn Garden City and the impact this could have on the 
high street.  We also recognise that the nature of town centres are changing, but it 
is important that they are thriving for our communities and creating and maintaining 
jobs.  This year we have been successful in being awarded £6.1m of Accelerated 
Construction funding from Homes England for town centre north, and the council 
has also acquired other key parts of the town centre to ensure that we can 
contribute to keeping our town centre thriving.   
 
To assist with the delivery of this, I have recently discussed with the Chief Executive 
the need to set up a partnership board for the town, as we are successfully doing in 
Hatfield.  This partnership would include and engage with key stakeholders, 
including the WGC BID, the LEP, John Lewis, the Howard Centre and Oaklands 
College to look at wider strategic issues covering health care, skills, employment 
and transport infrastructure associated with our regeneration plan.  Building on the 
success of the Cross Party Hatfield Regeneration Member Board, I would also wish 
to set up a Cross Party Welwyn Garden City Town Centre Regeneration Board, to 
take forward all of the regeneration plans and the procurement of a developer and 
ensure our strategy and regeneration of the town is appropriate for everyone.  So 
we do have a plan, we do have funding and we will now taking steps to set up the 
partnership and a Cross Party Board as soon as possible, these are effectively our 
town centre tsars.” 
 

3. Question to Councillor Nick Pace from Councillor Drew Richardson 
 
“Could the executive member for housing and community provide an update on 
the number of households that are being housed in hotels and B&Bs?” 
 
Answer 
 
“Thank you for your question. 
 
The current number of households in hotel accommodation is three, all single 
adults. Arrangements have been made for all 3 households to move out of 
hotel accommodation in the next 10 days.  
 
The team have worked hard to secure these households suitable alternative 
accommodation as quickly as possible.   
 
To further add, there are no families in hotel or bed and breakfast 
accommodation, this is in the main due being able to place households in 
Inspira House and Minster House. The last time any family with children 
resided in hotel or bed and breakfast accommodation was 31 May 2019.” 
 

  

Page 6



 

4. Question to Councillor Stephen Boulton from Councillor Lucy Musk 
 

“Given that when asked, only 38% of residents living within the area of Welwyn 
Garden City covered by the Estate Management Scheme voted to support its 
continuation, can the Cabinet member for Executive Member, Environment and 
Planning explain how not only retaining the EMS but adding fees too - serves the 
view of the 62% of people who did not vote to keep the EMS?” 
 
Answer 
 
“Thank you for your question. 
 
Section 3 of the report to Cabinet on 7 November 2017 set out the results of the 
EMS consultation which took place in late 2016.  It advised that 1,700 responses 
were received.  It advised that 81% of respondents who live in the EMS area and 
80% of respondents who live outside the EMS area think that the context and 
history of WGC justifies additional rules and controls.   
 
The table in paragraph 3.7 set out what people said in response to particular 
options.  The highest level of support was for maintaining the status quo, which was 
supported by 38% of EMS residents who responded and 33% of non-EMS residents 
who responded.  This does not mean that the status quo option was actively 
opposed by 62% of respondents however.  It means that their preference was for 
another option.  The table shows that only 8% or EMS residents who responded 
and only 5% of non-EMS residents who responded favoured the termination of the 
Scheme without any alternative controls. 
 
Paragraph 3.12 concludes by stating that “It is clear from the responses received to 
the consultation that residents of the town value the EMS in terms of the protection 
that it provides to the special character of Welwyn Garden City as the World’s 
second Garden City.  The responses to the question regarding how the Scheme 
should be administered in future are also clear, but only insofar as they do not 
comprehensively identify one single option as being preferred.  As a result of this 
ambiguity, Officers have continued to consider the available options.”   
 
The report goes on to consider the available options in more detail.  Paragraph 3.17 
accepts that application fees were not fully supported by residents but argues that 
fees are common to most other towns where such Scheme exist.  Paragraph 3.14 
observes that without application fees the Scheme would continue to be funded by 
a combination of planning application fees and council tax.  The report therefore 
ultimately recommends the principle of creating an EMS team and the principle of 
establishing fees for EMS applications. 
 
Cabinet accepted these recommendations as being the best way of protecting the 
context and history of the garden city in a fair and equitable way.” 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 22 JULY 2019 
 
Recommendations from the Cabinet on 4 June 2019:- 
 
4.1 Food Safety Service Plan 2019/20 (Forward Plan Reference FP912) 

 

The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 March 2019 on the 

adoption of the Plan for the Borough as required by the Food Standards 

Agency (Minute 66 refers). 

 

The Food Standards Agency had overall responsibility for the official 
control of food law enforcement in England which involved co-ordinating, 
monitoring, setting standards and auditing local authority food law 
enforcement activities and included a requirement that all local 
authorities produce a food safety service plan which had been agreed by 
Members. 
 
Local authorities were expected to not just merely undertake “routine 
hygiene inspections” but to operate a risk based enforcement system that 
valued educational initiatives together with formal legal enforcement tools 
and “non inspection interventions”, for example, targeted sampling and 
imported food controls.   
 

The Cabinet approved the Food Safety Service Plan 2019/20 and 

RECOMMENDS it to the Council for adoption. 

 

(Note: Report attached.  Click link below for the Food Service Safety Plan). 

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841  

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8a

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Cheryll Brown  
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 12 MARCH 2019 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

 

FOOD SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 2019/20 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 It is a requirement of the Food Standards Agency that each local authority draws 
up, documents and implements a food safety service plan which is approved by 
members. 

1.2 This report sets out (in appendix A) the food safety service plan for 2019/20. As 
agreed by members Appendix B a review of performance against the previous 
food safety service plan will be presented to the next committee meeting in June.      

1.3 Members are asked to consider the food safety service plan in appendix A and 
recommend to Cabinet that it is sent to Full Council for adoption. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 For the committee to consider and approve the service plan in appendix A and 
recommend to Cabinet that it is sent to Full Council to be adopted. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) has overall responsibility for the official 
control of food law enforcement in England.  This involves co-ordinating, 
monitoring, setting standards and auditing local authority food law enforcement 
activities.  This includes a requirement that all local authorities produce a food 
safety service plan which has been agreed by their members.  The latest version 
is shown in Appendix A and is written having regard to the format proscribed by 
the FSA. 

3.2 It will be noted that local authorities are expected to not just merely undertake 
“routine hygiene inspections” but to operate a risk based enforcement system 
that values educational initiatives together with formal legal enforcement tools 
and ‘non inspection interventions’ (for example targeted sampling, imported food 
controls).   

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Mandatory guidance issued by the Food Standards Agency requires Welwyn 
Hatfield Council to have adopted a food safety service plan which meets the 
format prescribed by the Food Standards Agency. 

4.2 In carrying out this work officers may carry out enforcement of the legal 
provisions in order to ensure the public are not put at risk and there is 

Page 11



- 2 - 

compliance with the law. This can range from provision of advice through to 
formal enforcement notices and prosecutions.  

4.3 The Sentencing Council provided new definitive guidelines1 covering the 
sentencing of food hygiene offences before the criminal Courts in February 2016.  

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 None directly arising from this report; there is a budget in place for this work 
however it is not possible to predict what enforcement actions may be required 
during the year, and specific enforcement cases may incur additional costs (for 
example in respect of legal fees).  

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The main risks related to this proposal are: 

6.2 The Council is at risk from public criticism from the Food Standards Agency if it 
cannot show it has produced and obtained Member approval of a food safety 
service plan which is written in accordance with the Food Standards Agency 
guidance. 

6.3 The public are at risk if the council does not provide an adequately resourced 
food hygiene function.  

6.4 As with any enforcement activity there is a risk of incurring costs, some of which 
may not be fully recovered.  

6.5 Our work with local business, especially small and medium sized enterprises 
helps the local economy and business growth, thereby mitigating associated 
risks. 

6.6 The work of the public health and protection service is considerably broad with 
the underlying theme of protecting the public. Therefore it is inevitable that in 
order to make best use of resources some work will be prioritised over other 
work. Sometimes the priorities afforded to work by officers using their 
professional judgement may not match the perceived priorities allocated by 
members of the public, and this mismatch can result in complaints to local 
councillors, MPs and the Ombudsman.  

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 Food security is a recognised risk2 and environmental health work and the 
council’s role as a category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies Act can 
assist with the mitigation of this risk. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None directly arising from this report however at periods of high demand 
appropriate contractors or casual staff may be procured to assist with food 
hygiene inspections. 

                                                           
1
 https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/HS-offences-definitive-guideline-FINAL-

web.pdf accessed 10/03/2016 
2
 See for example http://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pas96-2014-food-drink-protection-guide.pdf 

accessed 10/03/2016 

Page 12

https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/HS-offences-definitive-guideline-FINAL-web.pdf
https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/HS-offences-definitive-guideline-FINAL-web.pdf
http://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pas96-2014-food-drink-protection-guide.pdf


- 3 - 

 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None directly arising from this report, although there are links between climate 
change, food hygiene, food security, and availability.   

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 None directly arising from this report.  The delivery of this service is a statutory 
duty and should the need arise due to changes in staffing within the year we 
would seek to obtain assistance to deliver the service through the use of casual 
staff and/or contractors.  All food officers must obtain a minimum of 10 hours of 
continual professional training in food matters commensurate with their 
authorisation and role, this is delivered within existing budget. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 The provision and availability of safe food is essential for human health.  The 
delivery of this service aims to ensure that both residents and visitors to this 
borough can trust that the food they buy is safe to eat and is what it says it is.  
The interventions taken by the team aim to reduce the incidence of food borne 
illness that has a significant impact on our economy. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 None directly arising from this report.  Food Businesses regularly receive safety 
newsletters to update them on topical food safety matters including changes to 
legislation. 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities ‘Promote 
inclusive and safe communities’, ‘Improve public health and well-being’, 
’Supporting sustainable economic growth’ and ‘Being business friendly’, 
and is also linked to statutory provisions under food safety and hygiene 
legislation. 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out in connection with the food 
safety and hygiene activities that are carried out by the council and no adverse 
differential impacts have been identified. 

Name of author Cheryll Brown 01707 357207 
Title Team Leader (Public Health and Protection) 
Date February 2019 
 
Appendices  

Appendix A – Food Safety Service Plan 2019/20  
 
Click link below for Appendix to the report 
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841  

Page 13

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 22 JULY 2019 
 
Recommendations from the Cabinet on 4 June 2019:- 
 
4.2 Health and Safety Service Plan 2019/20 (Forward Plan Reference 

FP913) 

 

The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 March 2019 on the 

adoption of the Plan for enforcement of health and safety law (Minute 67 

refers). 

 

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 placed a duty on the Health 

and Safety Executive and Local Authorities to make arrangements for the 

enforcement of health and safety law and to ensure public and employee 

health and safety protection. 

 

There were no significant changes to how the health and safety service 

would be delivered, however, interventions planned for 2019/20 by 

Officers were more proactive and ranged from the provision of advice 

through to formal enforcement notices and prosecutions in order to meet 

both national and local priorities.  

 

The Cabinet approved the Health and Safety Service Plan 2019/20 and 

RECOMMENDS it to the Council for adoption. 

 

(Note:  Report attached.  Click link below for the Health Safety Service Plan). 

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841  
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8b

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Cheryll Brown  
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 12 MARCH 2019 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

HEALTH AND SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 2019/20 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Section 18 of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 (HSWA) puts a duty on 
the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and Local Authorities (LAs) to make 
adequate arrangements for enforcement of health and safety law.  

1.2 Members should be aware that a joint statement of commitment between HSE 
and Local Authority representative bodies exists to work together to prevent 
death, injury and ill health of those at work and those affected by work activities.  
As such health and safety enforcement work should feature in corporate plans. 

1.3 This report sets out (in appendix A) the health and safety service plan for 
2019/20.    Members are asked to consider the service plan in appendix A and 
recommend to Cabinet that it is sent to Full Council for adoption. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 For the committee to consider and approve the service plan in appendix A and 
recommend to Cabinet that it is sent to Full Council to be adopted. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 Local Authorities and the HSE have shared responsibility for ensuring public and 
employee health and safety protection throughout the UK.  

3.2 Whilst the main responsibility remains with the businesses and individuals who 
create the risk the Council has a responsibility to deliver a service that regulates 
businesses and enforces against those that fail to protect the public.  

3.3 A safe working environment is something every employee should be able to take 
for granted, this service plan seeks to outline the work carried out to deliver 
sensible, proportionate and firm management of health and safety in the 
workplace. 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Section 18 of the Health & Safety at Work etc Act 1974 places an explicit duty on 
the Council to make adequate arrangements for the enforcement of health and 
safety law. The expectations for arrangements are set out within the National 
Local Authority Enforcement Code published by the HSE. 

4.2 In carrying out this work officers may carry out enforcement of the legal 
provisions in order to ensure the public are not put at risk and there is 

Page 17



- 2 - 

compliance with the law. This can range from provision of advice through to 
formal enforcement notices and prosecutions.  

4.3 The Sentencing Council provided new definitive guidelines1 covering the 
sentencing of food hygiene offences before the criminal courts in February 2016.  

4.4 All officers delivering health and safety interventions must maintain their 
competency, this includes training specifically related to each officer’s individual 
authorisation.  

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 None directly arising from this report; there is a budget in place for this work 
however it is not possible to predict what enforcement actions may be required 
during the year, and specific enforcement cases may incur additional costs (for 
example in respect of legal fees).  

6 Risk Management Implication(s) 

6.1 The main risks related to this proposal are: 

6.2 The Council is at risk from public criticism from the Health and Safety Executive if 
it cannot demonstrate adequate arrangements are in place to delivery of health 
and safety interventions and enforcement. 

6.3 The public are at risk if the council does not provide an adequately resourced 
health and safety service. By this we must provide both competency and capacity 
to deliver the service. 

6.4 As with any enforcement activity there is a risk of incurring costs, some of which 
may not be fully recovered.  

6.5 Our work with local business, especially small and medium sized enterprises 
helps the local economy and business growth, thereby mitigating associated 
risks. 

6.6 The work of the public health and protection service is considerably broad with 
the underlying theme of protecting the public. Therefore it is inevitable that in 
order to make best use of resources some work will be prioritised over other 
work. Sometimes the priorities afforded to work by officers using their 
professional judgement may not match the perceived priorities allocated by 
members of the public, and this mismatch can result in complaints to local 
councillors, MPs and the Ombudsman.  

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)  

7.1 Inspectors appointed under the Health and Safety at Work Act have a number of 
powers available to them, these powers alongside enforcement tools may be 
used to assist the council’s role as a category 1 responder under the Civil 
Contingencies Act and assist with the mitigation of this risk. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None directly arising from this report however at periods of high demand casual 
staff may be procured to assist with interventions. 

Page 18

http://evserver.welhat.local/EnterpriseVault/Search/ContentView.aspx?pvid=128B96F6CC8590F459E3F3A41F358C1761110000evsite.welhat.local&SavesetId=201805307711350~201804301619100000~Z~D0B30AA8407FAD78A73B9BBFED39DCC1&AttachmentId=4&VaultId=16F0F41D75CF2494C83414F018944ADD11110000evsite.welhat.local&sId=1a4bec23-8184-4b8d-8e76-b299dd7bfc9e&isEa=0&tof=0#footnote1


- 3 - 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None directly arising from this report.   

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 None directly arising from this report.  The delivery of this service is a statutory 
duty and should the need arise due to changes in staffing within the year we 
would seek to obtain assistance to deliver the service through the use of casual 
staff and/or contractors.   

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 A safe workplace must encompass safety management systems that control 
risks to both physical safety and health, including mental health.  The provision of 
a health and safety service enables proactive intervention to ensure safe 
systems exist and reactive, to address shortcomings through enforcement, as 
necessary.  The cost to the UK economy through ill health from workplace injury 
is in the region of £15 billion annually, much of the cost is incurred on the 
individual injured which demonstrates the importance and need for prevention. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 None directly arising from this report.   

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities ‘Promote 
inclusive and safe communities’, ‘Improve public health and well-being’, 
’Supporting sustainable economic growth’ and ‘Being business friendly’, and is 
also linked to statutory provisions under health and safety legislation. 
 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out in connection with the 
food safety and hygiene activities that are carried out by the council and no 
adverse differential impacts have been identified. 

 
Name of author Cheryll Brown 01707 357207  
Title Team Leader (Public Health and Protection) 
Date February 2019 
 
 
Appendices  

Appendix A – Health and Safety Service Plan 2019/20  
 
Click link below for Appendix to the report 
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841  

Page 19

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=841


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 22 JULY 2019 
 
Recommendations from the Cabinet on 9 July 2019:- 
 
20.1 Animal Welfare Act 2006 - Animal Activities Licensing Fees 

 
The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 10 June 2019 on 
proposed fees for animal activities licensing. 
 
The Cabinet noted that full cost recovery when licensing certain animal 
activities was allowed by Regulations. 
 
This was intended to promote the welfare of animals, via a new licensing 
system, and would be applied to persons selling animals as pets, 
providing for or arranging for the provision of boarding for cats or dogs, 
day care for dogs, hiring out horses, dog breeding and keeping or 
training animals for exhibition.  
 
The Act did not cover all of those animals protected under the animal 
welfare act. 
 
Frequency of inspection was the same if it was deemed there was low or 
high risk as per the statutory requirements. However more inspections 
could be carried out if there was a high risk. 
 
The fees would be reviewed on a three year basis to ensure that any 
profits or deficits were adjusted accordingly. 
 
The Committee had clarified that “the minimum requirement of animal 
welfare meant the “basic legal requirements.” 
 
The Cabinet approved the fees and charges listed in Appendix A to the 
report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance) to the meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 10 June 2019 for licensing certain animal activities, as 
recommended by the Committee and RECOMMENDS them to the 
Council for adoption so that the budget book could be adjusted 
accordingly. 

 

(Note:  Report attached) 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8c



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Kate Payne 
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
Ward: All  

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE– 10 JUNE 2019  
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

ANIMAL WELFARE ACT 2006 ANIMAL ACTIVITIES LICENSING FEES 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report is to update members regarding national changes to animal welfare 
licensing and to seek the recommendations of members that the proposed fees 
are sent to cabinet for approval so that the budget book can be adjusted.  

1.2 The Statutory Instrument number 486 / 2018 entitled “The Animal Welfare 
(Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018” was 
made on 16 April 2018 and came into force on 1 October 2018, and allows for full 
cost recovery when licensing certain animal activities. 

1.3 The intention of this Instrument is to promote the welfare of animals, via a new 
licensing system, and will apply to persons selling animals as pets, providing for 
or arranging for the provision of boarding for cats or dogs, day care for dogs, 
hiring out horses, dog breeding and keeping or training animals for exhibition. 
These fees will be reviewed on a three year basis to ensure that they any profits 
or deficits are adjusted accordingly. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Members note the report and recommend that the fees and charges listed in 
Appendix A are sent to Cabinet for consideration for recommendation to Full 
Council so that the budget book can be adjusted accordingly. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The new licensing regime requires that all applicants meet the same, up-to date,
 minimum welfare standards for animals across the country. Businesses are 
 licensed by the relevant local authority and have to meet minimum standards in 
 order to hold and retain a licence. In carrying out its duties a local authority “must 
 have regard” to any guidance that may be issued by the Secretary of State. 
 The new scheme incorporates “earned recognition” into the animal licensing 
 system for the first time. Local authorities are able to issue licences of 1, 2 or 3 
 years duration, with longer licences going to high performing, low risk 
 businesses. 
 
3.2 Businesses are “star rated” for the first time from between 1 to 5 stars. A 1 star
 rating means a 1 year licence, and a 5 star rating meaning a 3 year licence. 
 Appendix B.  
 
3.3  When authorities issue a licence they are required to write to applicants 
 explaining how the star rating was determined. 
 

Page 23



- 2 - 

  If applicants are not happy with their rating they are able to either: 
 

i) Appeal it (the appeal being determined either by the head of the 
department that issued the licence within the local authority, or by a 
designated deputy, or by the equivalent in another authority. No 
officer involved in the production of the rating, or in the inspection 
on which the rating is based should consider the appeal);  
or, 

ii)  Apply for a re-inspection in order to improve it (this will be subject to 
a further fee). 

 
3.4 The “risk scoring” matrix Appendix C has to be utilised to determine the risk 
 rating for any premise and this is provided to new applicants for transparency 
 purposes. 
 
3.5 The proposed fees are at Appendix A and are based on the Local Authority 
 guidance on locally set licence fees issued by the ‘Local Government 
 Association’. 
 
3.6 The principal behind the fees is that the council recovers the full costs of the 
 licensing regime from the businesses regulated. It is recognised that the new 
 application fee represents a significant increase on the fee levied in previous 
 years. This is due to the fact that in previous years the council did not recover the 
 full costs of inspection associated with processing animal licenses. 
  
3.7 The new licensing regime also allows the council to recover the costs of activities 
 that underpin the process of determining license applications and the costs of 
 enforcement and monitoring on-going compliance. Unlike the previous regime 
 there are now also additional mandatory routine visits that councils must 
 undertake. 
 
3.8 In many cases this increased cost will be mitigated by the fact that licenses can 
 be issued for a maximum period of 3 years to those business that reach high 
 standards of compliance with welfare requirements. The license fee is now levied 
 for each application not for each year it is active. Therefore although the upfront 
 cost of a license will be more expensive a business that secures a full 3 year 
 license will only pay this fee once in a three year period which will represent a 
 significant saving for those businesses with the highest standards.  
 
3.9 Applicants will be able to have a number of separate licensing activities on the 

one licence rather than having to apply for different licences for different 
activities. An additional 50% fee will be charge for additional licenced activities as 
all the activities have different conditions attached to them generating longer 
inspection times and follow up activities. 

 
3.10 All fees are levied in two parts to comply with the requirements of the EU 
 Services Directive. These two separate fees are: 
 

 Fee 1 Application Fee – This is the cost of administering an application for 
a license and will include the cost of processing the application, inspecting 
the premises and determining the application. This fee is chargeable to all 
applicants and applies whether or not the application is successful. The 
fee must be paid at the time of application. An application cannot be 
considered until that fee has been paid. 

Page 24



- 3 - 

 

 Fee 2 Compliance and Enforcement Fee – This fee is chargeable to all 
successful applicants and will include the costs associated with the 
compliance  and enforcement of the licensing regime. This will include 
the cost of routine  inspections required under the regulations, 
investigation of complaints, enforcement and professional costs. Fee 2 
must be paid prior to a license being issued. A license will not be issued 
until fee 2 is paid in full. 

 
3.11 National conditions are applied to all licences issued. There are general 
 conditions which are applicable for every licence and specific conditions which 
 are be tailored to each individual licensable activity. 
 
3.12 Existing licences will remain in force until they expire at which time businesses 
 will be expected to have a licence issued under the new scheme. 
 
3.13 Each local authority will be required annually to provide the following information 
 In writing to the Secretary of State: 
 

i) The number of licences in force for each licensable activity in its area 
on each reference date, and 

ii) The average level of fees it has charged for licences it has granted or 
renewed for each licensable activity in each reference period. 

 
3.14 The DEFRA guidance recognises that some “home boarding” businesses may 
 not directly provide accommodation for other people’s animals and operate by 
 placing pet owners in touch with other home boarders who will care for their pet 
 in their own home. That business must maintain a list of all the home boarders 
 they use and ensure that they reach the standards set out in the legislation. 
 The local authority must also satisfy itself that all homes used for boarding reach 
 adequate standards. Therefore all business that operate by finding pet owners 
 accommodation for their pets must obtain a valid license for the activity of 
 arranging home boarding – this license will specify the homes that provide 
 accommodation for animals. There is a fee for the arrangers licence and a 
 separate fee for all home boarders whether they operate independently, as part 
 of a franchise or in some cases do both. If during the course of a license period 
 the business involved in finding accommodation for pets wishes to add an 
 additional home boarder to their license this will be treated as a variation and an 
 additional fee of £50 will be charged plus the inspection costs and general on 
 costs. 
 
3.15 The fee levied will be reviewed annually to ensure that full costs of the animal 
 licensing service are recovered in a fair and proportionate manner. In particular 
 the costs of the underpinning activities and compliance and enforcement will be 
 reviewed in the context of the anticipated number of license holders to ensure 
 those costs are evenly distributed. 
 
3.16 Under the new process a local authority may charge fees for: 
 

i) the costs of consideration of an application, including any inspection 
relating to that consideration; 

ii) the reasonable anticipated costs of consideration of a licence holder’s 

Page 25



- 4 - 

  compliance with the Regulations and the licence conditions to which a 
licence holder is subject. This includes the costs of any further 
inspections related to compliance; 

(iii)    the reasonable anticipated costs of enforcement in relation to any 
licensable activity of an unlicensed operator; and 

  (iv)        the reasonable anticipated costs of the local authority compiling and    
               submitting the data required by regulation 29 to the Secretary of State. 

  
3.17 Taking the above into account and in order to effect actual cost recovery (as far 
 as is possible) it is therefore proposed that the following fees be charged in 
 respect of this new process. Appendix A 
 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Fees will be reviewed every three years to ensure true cost recovery for the work 
undertaken and any profits or deficits are adjusted accordingly. 

4.2 If a business appeals against a star rating and disagrees with the outcome of the 
appeal they can challenge the local authority’s decision by means of judicial 
review.  

4.3 Any operator who is aggrieved by a decision by a local authority to refuse to 
grant, renew, revoke or vary a licence can appeal to the First- tier tribunal. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 Our finance business partner has assessed the fee calculations as acceptable in 
the parameters used.  

5.2 There may be an increase in income in the next three years as more people 
become aware that a licence is required to undertake certain activities. It is also 
possible that people will not apply for a licence and therefore more enforcement 
action is required. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.2 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is required to have a list of fees and charges 
that are regularly reviewed. Other Councils have been successfully challenged if 
they cannot show the fee only covers the cost of the service. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1  The council has an overarching duty to have due regard to the need to prevent 
people being drawn into terrorism, in the context of this report, there are no 
additional concerns. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1  None arising directly from this report. 

 

Page 26



- 5 - 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

The proposal does not imply an increase in greenhouse gas emissions or water 
use. The proposal appears to be resilient to climate change and does not require 
adaptations to be made.  

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1  None directly arising from this report. Our Licensing team has always processed 
these animal licences. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 The new regulations have been developed to improve the national standards in 
relation to animal activity licensing. The welfare of animals has always been an 
emotive subject and for those who care about animals, knowing that they are 
kept in approved establishments, which are covered by a robust licensing regime 
will have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of those individuals.    

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 All current licence holders have been notified of the changes and information is 
available on our website. The fees are being set now as there were a lot of 
deviation between the regulations and the guidance so it was difficult to know the 
extent of the work involved. We have now begun to carry out the regulatory visits 
and are able to justify the fees being proposed.  

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority ‘promoting 
equality and fairness’, and is linked to a statutory requirement, under the Animal 
Welfare Act 2006. 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1  An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
 existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
 policies. 

 
 
Name of author Kate Payne 01707 357206 
Title Licensing Team Leader 
Date April 2019 
 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)   

Statutory instrument 486/2018 

Appendices to be listed  

Appendix A - Proposed fees 

Appendix B - Star ratings 

Appendix C - Risk scoring matrix 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 Part A  
Payable on 
application 

Part B 
Payable prior 
to issue 

Vets fees if 
applicable 

Total Current 
fees 

Dog home 
boarding /Day 
care (own licence) 
or commercial up 
to ten dogs-  
New/1 Year 
New /2 year 
New /3year 
 
Renewal 
I year  
2 years 
3 Years 
 

 
 
 
 
 
£267 
£267 
£267 
 
 
£234 
£234 
£234 

 
 
 
 
 
£31 
£74 
£117 
 
 
£36 
£99 
£119 

 
 
 
 
 
Invoiced at 
cost 

 
 
 
 
 
£298 
£341 
£384 
 
 
£270 
£333 
£353 

 
 
 
 
 
£170 
na 
na 
 
 
£170 
na 
na 

Dog / Cat 
Commercial New 
over ten dogs 
I year 
2 years 
3 years 
 
Renewal 
1 year 
2 years 
3 years 

 
 
 
£286 
£286 
£286 
 
 
£262 
£279 
£286 

 
 
 
£38 
£90 
£139 
 
 
£31 
£89 
£139 

 
 
 
Invoiced at 
cost 
 

 
 
 
£324 
£376 
£425 
 
 
£293 
£368 
£425 

 
 
 
£217 
na 
na 
 
 
£217 
na 
na 

Arranging 
boarding/franchise 
No dogs  
 
New I/2/3 year 
 

 
 
£239 
 

 
 
£31 
 
 

 
 
Invoiced at 
cost 

 
 
£270 

 
 
na 

Variation fee 
franchise 

£50 
 

na 
 

 
 

£50 
 

na 

Inspection of 
franchisee – no 
licence 
1 year 
2 year 
3 year 
Renewal 
1 year 
2 year 
3 year 

 
 
 
£222 
£224 
£219 
 
£216 
£209 
£200 
 

 
 
 
£16 
£41 
£79 
 
£16 
£41 
£79 

 
 
 
Invoiced at 
cost 

 
 
 
£238 
£265 
£298 
 
£232 
£250 
£279 
 

 
 
 
na 
na 
na 
 
na 
na 
na 

Dog Breeders New  
1 Year 
2 years 
3 years 

 
£273 
£273 
£277 

 
£30 
£77 
£115 

 
Invoiced at 
cost 

 
£303 
£350 
£392 

 
£181 
na 
na 

Page 29



Dog breeders 
Renewal 
1 year 
2 year 
3 year 
 

 
 

£252 
£234 
£251 

 
 
£30 
£80 
£129 

 
 
£282 
£314 
£380 

 
 
£181 
na 
na 

Selling animals as 
pets New 
 I year 
2 year 
3 year 
 
Renewal 
1 year 
2 years 
3 years 

 
 
£267 
£264 
£286 

 
 
£256 
£258 
£265 

 
 
£31 
£93 
£119 
 
 
£31 
£83 
£139 

 
 
Invoiced at 
cost 

 
 
£298 
£357 
£415 
 
 
£287 
£341 
£404 

 
 
£170 
na 
na 
 
 
£170 
na 
na 

Hiring out horses 
New  
1 year 
2 Years 
3 Years 
 
Renewal 
1 Year 
2 year 
3 Year 

 
 
£285 
£286 
£285 
 
 
£276 
£276 
£276 

 
 
£31 
£93 
£139 
 
 
£31 
£93 
£148 

 
 
Invoiced at 
cost 
 

 
 
£316 
£379 
£424 
 
 
£307 
£369 
£424 

 
 
£279 
na 
na 
 
 
£279 
na 
na 

Keeping or training 
animals for 
exhibition 3 years 

£258 £31 Invoiced at 
cost 

£289 
 

na 

      

Combination of 
activities 

Equal to 
highest 
activity fee 
plus 50% of 
each 
additional 
licensable 
activity. 

Equal to 
highest 
activity fee 
plus 50% of 
each 
additional 
licensable 
activity. 

Invoiced at 
cost 

  

Revaluation of 
inspection rating 

£100  Invoiced at 
cost 

£100 na 

Re visit – appeals  *£100 unless 
licence 
receives 
higher rating  

 *£100 na 

Variation All types 
except franchises 

£200 £26 Invoiced at 
cost 

£226 na 

Transfer due to 
death of licensee 

£20.00  Invoiced at 
cost 

£20 na 

Copy of licence £12.00    £12 na 

      

*Plus vets fees where applicable 

Page 30



Determining the length of a licence and the star rating of a business 
 
Assessing risk & standards 
 
This guidance describes the risk -based system that must be used when issuing 
animal activities licences under the Regulations with the exception of “Keeping or 
Training Animals for Exhibition” where all licences are issued for 3 years. 
This system should be used to determine both the length of the licence and the star 
rating to award.  
Local authorities in England are expected to follow it in full. 
 
The purpose is to ensure consistency in implementation and operation of the 
licensing system by local authorities, and to ensure that consumers can be confident 
that the star rating applied to businesses is an accurate reflection of both their  risk 
level and the animal welfare standards that they adopt. 
 

Animals activity star rating system 
 
The scoring matrix for a premises is displayed in Table 1 
 

 SCORING 
MATTRIX 

   

R 
 

MINOR FAILINGS 
MINIMUM 
STANDARDS 

HIGHER 
STANDARDS 

I 

 (Existing business 
that are failing to 
meet minimum 
standards) 

(as laid down in 
the schedules and 
guidance) 

(as laid down in 
the guidance) 

S LOW RISK 

1 STAR 
1yr Licence 
Min 1 
unannounced visit 
within 12 month 
period 

3 STAR 
2yr Licence 
Min 1 
unannounced visit 
within 12 month 
period 

5 STAR 
3yr Licence 
Min 1 
unannounced visit 
within 24 month 
period 

K 
HIGHER 
RISK 

1 STAR 
1yr Licence 
Min 1 
unannounced visit 
within 12 month 
period 

2 STAR 
1yr Licence 
Min 1 
unannounced visit 
within 12 month 
period 

4 STAR 
2yr Licence 
Min 1 
unannounced visit 
within 24 month 
period 

 

 
The model takes into account both the animal welfare standards adopted by a 
business as well as their level of risk (based on elements such as past compliance). 
This model should be used every time a licence is granted or renewed. 
 
Businesses must be given a star rating, ranging from 1 star to 5 stars, based on this 
model, and the results of their inspection.  

Page 31



This star rating must be listed on the licence by the issuing local authority officer. 
The system incorporates safeguards to ensure fairness to businesses. This includes 
an appeal procedure and a mechanism for requesting a re-inspection for the 
purposes of re-rating when improvements have been made. 
 
In order to use this model to calculate the length of the licence and associated star 
rating, it is necessary to address the following questions, based on the inspection 
and on records of past compliance: 
 

 (a) Does the business meet the minimum standards? 

 (b) Does the business meet the higher standards? 
 (c) Is the business low or higher risk? 
 

Does the business meet the minimum standards? 
 
To obtain a licence for a single activity i.e. dog breeding, the applicant must meet the 
minimum standards set out in the specific Schedules to the Regulations (i.e. for Dog 
Breeding, Schedule 6) in addition to those in the General Schedule (Schedule 2). All 
businesses should meet the minimum standards but see paragraph below for minor 
failings.  
 
Additional information on how to meet these standards for each activity are outlined 
in the relevant specific guidance documents. During an inspection, the inspector 
should assess whether or not the business is meeting each of these minimum 
standards. If this is the case, they will qualify for a minimum of a two star rating (but 
subject to paragraph below for minor failings). 

 
Minor failings 
 
If an existing business has a number of minor failings with regards to the minimum 
standards laid down in the schedules and the guidance, they should receive a risk 
rating score of 1star. These minor failings should be predominantly administrative or 
if they are in relation to standards, they must not compromise the welfare of the 
animals.  If animal welfare is being compromised, a licence should not be 
granted/renewed or, if already in place, should be suspended or revoked. 
 

Does the business meet the higher standards? 
 
For each activity, a number of higher standards have been agreed. Meeting the 
higher standards is optional but is the only way to gain a higher star rating. The 
higher standards are classified in to two types: required and optional and are 
outlined in the relevant guidance documents for the activity in question. To 
distinguish required standards from optional ones they have each been given a 
specific colour which is used in each guidance document. Higher standards that 
appear in blue text are required whereas those that appear in red text are optional. 
To qualify as meeting the higher standards, the business needs to achieve all of the 
required higher standards as well as a minimum of 50% of the optional higher 
standards.  
 

Page 32



During an 18 inspection, the inspector should assess whether or not the business 
meets the required number of higher standards. 
 
Where a scheme utilising UKAS accredited certification is operational, it will be 
operated against either the minimum or higher standards as set out in the 
certification scheme criteria and as agreed with UKAS as part of the accreditation 
process. 
If a business is certified by a UKAS -accredited certification body to the higher 
standards, they should automatically be considered as meeting these standards, 
unless there is significant evidence of poor animal welfare or non-compliance is 
identified during the inspection. 
 

Is the business low or high risk? 
 
See table 2 Risk Scoring Table of the guidance to determine if a business that is not 
certified by a UKAS accredited body as low or higher risk.  
 
The risk assessment is not meant to reconsider specific issues taken into account in 
assessment of compliance with the minimum or higher standards. It does, however, 
require an assessment on the likelihood of satisfactory compliance being maintained 
in the future. 
 
In considering risk, “management” covers the system as a whole. For a multi-site 
business, the company wide management system and procedures are a key element 
of this but local site / premises management is also important as that will influence 
how these systems and procedures are applied. 
 
Assessments of the written procedures should be based on the principle of 
proportionality, i.e. commensurate with the nature and size of the business.  
For small businesses which present lower risks, it may be sufficient that the business 
has in place good welfare practices and understands and applies them, i.e. it meets 
its prerequisites.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Score 

The welfare standard rating is combined with the risk score. Risk is based on the 
likelihood of satisfactory compliance being maintained in future.  

A new applicant (someone who has not previously had a licence) will automatically 
be considered as high risk due to a lack of history of compliance. Otherwise, the risk 
score is calculated by scoring 11 factors as low risk (1 point) or high risk (2 points) 
with a total score of 17 or less giving an overall Low risk score and 18 or more a 
High Risk score.  

 Low (Score 1 Point)  High (Score 2 Points)  

Compliance 
History - 
inspections Documented evidence from formal 

inspections over the previous three 
years reveal consistent and high 
levels of compliance in terms of 
welfare standards and risk 
management. 

Formal inspections over the 
previous three years reveal some 
degree of non-compliance that 
has required the intervention of 
the inspector for the business to 
ultimately recognise and address 
these. More serious breaches 
would attract other enforcement 
action: suspension, revocation, 
prosecution. 

Compliance 
History - 
follow up 
action 

No evidence of follow-up action by 
local authority in the last year apart 
from providing the licence holder 
with a copy of the inspection report, 
or sending them a letter identifying 
some minor, administrative areas 
for improvement (e.g. minor record 
keeping issues). 

Follow up action by the local 
authority, such as sending them 
letters, triggered by low level 
non-compliance that is not 
addressed, or the business does 
not recognise the significance of 
the need to address the non-
compliance. 

Compliance 
History - re-
inspection 

No re-inspection necessary (apart 
from standard unannounced 
inspection) before next planned 
licence inspection / renewal 

Re-inspection necessary to 
ensure compliance. 

Complaint 
History - 
complaints 
to the LA 

No complaints received direct to the 
LA that are justified in relation to 
welfare standards or procedural 
issues during the previous three 
years. 

Low level substantiated 
complaints identifying concerns 
over the business / licence holder 
have been received within the 
previous three years. 

Complaint 
History - 
complaints 
to the 
business 

Licence holder records and 
documents any feedback received 
directly, in order to demonstrate 
compliance and willingness to 
address issues, and can provide 

Licence holder does not record 
feedback received directly or 
show willingness to address any 
issues identified. 

Page 35



evidence of this. 

Appreciation 
of welfare 
standards - 
enrichment 

Sound understanding by the licence 
holder of relevant environmental 
enrichment applicable to the activity 
(guided by expert advice), with 
demonstrated implementation. 

Little environmental enrichment 
present, inconsistently used and 
its importance not understood or 
really valued. 

Appreciation 
of hazards / 
risks 

Licence holder clearly understands 
their role and responsibilities under 
the legislation. Hazards to both staff 
and animals clearly understood, 
properly controlled and reviewed 
with supporting evidence where 
applicable. 

Licence holder not fully engaged 
with their role/responsibilities, 
lacks time to fulfil role, no system 
for review and reassessment of 
hazards to both animals and 
staff. 

Appreciation 
of hazards / 
risks - 
maintenance 

A suitably planned maintenance, 
repair and replacement program for 
infrastructure and equipment is in 
place. 

No planned maintenance 
program. Building, installations 
and equipment allowed to 
deteriorate before action is 
implemented. 

Appreciation 
of hazards / 
risks - 
knowledge 
and 
experience 

Staff have specialist and 
appropriate knowledge of the taxa / 
species that are kept. There is 
sufficient staff, time and resource 
for daily, adequate routine 
monitoring, evidenced through 
records and staff rotas. 

Key staff lack experience / 
knowledge of the species. Staff 
appear overburdened and / or 
unsupported by management, 
corners being cut. 

Appreciation 
of hazards / 
risks - 
dealing with 
issues 

Clear defined roles / responsibilities 
of staff, with clear processes for 
reporting and addressing any 
identified issues. 

Lack of any process, or 
ownership and responsibility 
within the business to identify 
and deal with issues. 

Welfare 
management 
procedures - 
written 
procedures 

Written procedures / policies clearly 
documented, implemented and 
reviewed appropriately. 

Limited written procedures / 
polices. No overall strategic 
control or direction. 

Welfare 
management 
procedures - 
supervision 
of staff 

Appropriate supervision of staff 
evident where applicable. 

Inadequate supervision of staff 
evident on inspection or from the 
training records. 

Welfare 
management 

All required records maintained and 
made available. 

Poor standard of record keeping, 
records out of date or appear to 

Page 36



procedures - 
record 
keeping 

be being manufactured - 
relevance of records not 
appreciated. 

Welfare 
management 
procedures - 
training 

Planned training programme for 
staff to review and assess 
competency, with documented 
training records. 

Little or no evidence of relevant 
training or system for review and 
reassessment. 

Total Score of 17 or less = Low risk Score of 18 or more = Higher risk. 

Where there is any uncertainty, if a business cannot provide satisfactory evidence 
that it is low risk in a given category, it will be scored as high risk. When assessing 
risk the inspector should also factor in the scale of the business. 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 22 JULY 2019 
 
Recommendations from the Cabinet on 9 July 2019:- 
 
20.2 Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2019-2024 

 
The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 
Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 June 2019 on the 
adoption of the Strategy. 
 
The Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee in November 2018 agreed 
to initiate a public consultation on the first draft Housing, Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeper Strategy and this was completed by the end of 
January 2019.  Overall feedback on the strategy was positive with an 
average of 83% of respondents saying that the Council had got it right. 
 
In response to Members’ questions, the Committee had noted that there 
were currently 2700 families on the housing waiting list and 700 on the 
transfer list.  There were 1398 people registered and queuing for one bed 
properties.  Of these 129 were couples and 1269 were single persons 
with 116 of these queuing for one bed sheltered accommodation only. 
 
There was an upward trend.  Only people with the most pressing needs 
were on the waiting list. 
 
The Council was taking active measures to prevent homelessness and 
these included working with Citizens Advice and the Resolve outreach 
service. 
 
There was a secure flexible tenancy scheme with a five year cycle of 
review. Within the scheme, tenants were able to downsize and there 
were financial incentives to do so, but no pressures were applied. 
 
The Cabinet approved the final draft Housing, Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeper Strategy 2019-2024, as recommended by the Social Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and RECOMMENDS it to the Council for 
adoption. 

 

(Note:   Report attached.  Click link below for the Housing and Homelessness 

Strategy). 

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=938  

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8d

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=938


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Rachel Sesstein  
Executive Member: Cllr Nick Pace 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE– 12TH JUNE 2019  
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 

HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2019-2024 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 A new draft Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy has been 
produced, informed by a recent review of homelessness in the borough and 
engagement with all key stakeholders.  This is attached at Appendix A. 

1.2 Approval was provided at SOSC 26th November 2018 to initiate a public 
consultation on the first draft Housing Homelessness and Rough Sleeper 
Strategy 

1.3 The consultation on the draft strategy was completed end of January 2019.  

1.4 Overall feedback on the strategy was positive with an average of 83% of 
respondents saying we had got it right. 

1.5 Some changes have been made to the first draft Housing, Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeper Strategy to incorporate the comments and suggestions made 
through the consultation. These are identified through “tracked changes” on the 
current draft of the strategy  

1.6 An Action Plan has been developed, which is attached at Appendix B 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 To consider and provide any comments on the final draft of the Housing, 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy. 

2.2 Subject to any agreed amendments, to approve the final draft Housing, 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy and recommend that it proceeds to 
Cabinet and full Council for adoption. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all housing authorities to carry out a 
‘Review of Homelessness’ in their area and formulate a strategy based on the 
results of the review 

3.2 The statutory obligation to formulate a Housing Strategy was removed under the 
terms of the De-regulation Act 2015. However the council has a number of 
statutory housing functions, and as such it is appropriate to set out our plans and 
priorities for doing this in order that we can demonstrate how we assess need, 
determine local priorities and plan for the delivery of good quality affordable 
housing. 

Page 41



- 2 - 

3.3 The review of homelessness and development of the new draft Housing, 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy was completed between February 
and September 2018 in collaboration with partners, relevant stakeholders and 
residents 

3.4 The review of homelessness identified a number of key issues that have 
influenced the priorities in the strategy and will impact on how we deliver 
homelessness and housing services over the next five years.  

3.5 The new draft Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy sets out the 
challenges these issues represent and the council’s short, medium and longer 
term plans to address these challenges. 

3.6 The review outcomes and stakeholder engagement identified that the key 
priorities from the previous five year strategy are still relevant and need only 
minor tweaking to incorporate current issues.  

3.7 The outcome from the stakeholder consultation on the draft strategy was very 
positive overall, with seventy two responses from organisations and residents - 
this is summarised below: 

Question Yes No 

Is the strategy clear and easy to understand? 85% 15% 

Do you agree with the challenges we've identified for 

meeting housing need and tackling homelessness in 

this area? 

85% 15% 

Do you agree with our priorities for addressing the 

challenges? 

78%     22% 

 

3.8 We have used other feedback and suggestions collated in the consultation for 
improvement: 

Themes Arising From Consultation How We’ve Addressed Concerns 

Strategy needs more specific detail We have incorporated the proposed Action 

Plan in the strategy document, in order to 

be transparent and show how we intend to 

deliver on the objectives of the Strategy. 

Strategy doesn’t address resident concerns that future 

development of new housing in this borough takes 

account of quality of life, pedestrianism, wide enough 

roads, parking, space and designs that eliminate anti-

social behaviour 

We have added information on  delivery as 

a key priority, how development falls within 

the remit of planning and that planning 

policy has been developed to take account 

of the wider place setting – so look and feel, 

infrastructure etc.  

Page 42



- 3 - 

More information on resources / funding  We have added information about the 

flexible homeless support grant and what 

we’ve used it for. We have identified what 

the funding sources will be and have 

referred to other key documents, such as 

the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan. 

Strategy needs to be clearer about meeting local 

need. Concerns  for newly forming households, influx 

of commuters etc. 

We have explained that the housing 

numbers are based on an estimate of 

growth, which includes an expectation on 

inward movement.  We have also included 

information on delivery via planning 

obligations and direct delivery achieved 

through the council’s Affordable Housing 

Programme.  

More information needed in the Strategy on rough 

sleeping 

We have added figures on the rough 

sleeper count and a paragraph to highlight 

the work we are already doing using the 

Flexible homeless support grant and other 

central government funding secured via the 

Rough Sleeper Initiative. 

 

3.9 Once the Housing Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy is approved by 
cabinet and full council, it will be published. A monitoring group will be set up to 
be responsible for oversight, review and progress of the strategy and action plan.  

Implications 

 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 As a strategic housing authority we are required by statute (Homelessness Act 
2002) to carry out a review of Homelessness in our area; formulate and publish a 
homelessness strategy based on the results of the review 

 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 This strategy sets medium and long term objectives that will require planned and 
coordinated investment of a number of existing council budgets, funding from 
central Government, and other private external investment.  

5.2 There will be a number of funds used to support the actions within the Strategy 
for example:  

a) Existing council budgets which support our activity in achieving 
homelessness prevention and relief. 

b) Flexible Homeless Support Grant has been awarded to us annually (last 
payment 2019/20).   

c) We have been successful in being awarded Central Government 
funding and will be pursuing other funding opportunities such as the 
Rough Sleeper Initiative Fund  

Page 43



- 4 - 

d) We will work with partners and stakeholders, such as Herts County 
Council, NHS and Registered Providers to facilitate actions. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.1.1 There is a reputational risk to the council of not meeting our statutory obligation 
to have a strategy in place from Government, partners and residents. Likelihood 
Very low : Impact Medium  Residual Risk Score Low 

6.1.2 There is a reputational risk in not being transparent and setting out our plans to 
achieve our general statutory responsibilities as a Statutory Housing Authority 
Likelihood Very Low : Impact Medium  Residual Risk Score Low 

6.1.3 There is a financial, reputational and social risk in not addressing homelessness 
in our area Likelihood low: Impact High  Residual Risk Score Medium 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising from this report 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1  There are no procurement implications arising from this report 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 Three of our five key strategic priorities will make a significant impact on climate 
change. 

9.1.1 Supply of Affordable Housing will include building of new homes which are more 
sustainable and energy efficient;  

9.1.2 Raising Standards in the Private Sector and Making Best use of our Stock will 
include improving property conditions and energy efficiency  

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There are no human resource implications arising from this report. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 It is now widely accepted that accessibility to a good quality, stable home is 
intrinsically linked to a person’s health and wellbeing. All key priorities in this 
strategy are dedicated to enabling the boroughs residents to have a home and 
that those homes are decent, affordable, warm and secure.  

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 Partners, stakeholder and residents have been engaged in the development of 
this strategy through involvement in the strategic steering group, a number of 
specialist working groups and a strategic housing forum event. Further 
consultation has taken place since development, with stakeholders on the draft 
strategy. 

Page 44



- 5 - 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities  

13.2 Our Housing, and specifically to the achievement of Quality landlord, Housing 
Need, Affordable Homes, and Housing Quality 

13.3 Our Economy and specifically Sustainable Growth, Investment and Regeneration 

13.4 Our Council and specifically to the achievement of Value for Money, Equality and 
Fairness, Customer First and is linked to a statutory requirement, under the 
Homelessness Act 2002 legislation. 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 An EqIA was completed on 11/10/18 and no negative impact was identified on any    
of the protected groups under Equalities legislation. 
 
 
 

Name of author (Rachel Sesstein) 
Title (Housing Strategy Manager) 
Date (01/05/2019) 
 
 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)   

 

Appendices to be listed  

Click link below for Appendix to the report 
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=938  

 Draft Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-24 

 Draft Action Plan (Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-
2024)  

Page 45

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=938


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Item No: 9 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 22 JULY 2019 
 
NOTICE OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 16 
 
To consider the following notice of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 16:- 

 
1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Fiona Thomson and 

will be seconded by Councillor Tony Kingsbury:- 
 

“Council notes that: 
 
a) The East and North Herts Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is running 

a public engagement on closing the QEII urgent care centre overnight 
which will impact Welwyn Hatfield residents. 

b) Residents will need to travel to the Lister hospital in Stevenage further 
adding to the already high demand at the Lister. 

c) Transfers to the Lister will cause additional financial hardship to residents. 
d) Additional transfer to the Lister will put further pressure on the ambulance 

service. 
e) The Local Plan will significantly increase the Borough population, 

increasing future demand on the service. 
 
In light of the above, and the fact that this proposal seriously impacts our 
residents, the Council therefore agrees: 
 
1. That the Leader writes to the East and North Herts CCG to request that: 
 

a) they withdraw their proposal to close the QEII urgent centre overnight; 
b) they investigate why the current facility is not better used;  
c) they consider a wider offer to encourage better use of the facility and 

support local residents; 
d) representatives of the CCG attend a meeting open to all Councillors to 

present their case; 
 
2.  Given the timing of the next Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

meeting in relation to the closing date of the CCG engagement, Cabinet to 
agree a formal response in consultation with the other group leaders.” 

 
2. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Malcolm Cowan and 

will be seconded by Councillor Siobhán Elam:- 
 

“This Council recognises the need to retain and expand the borough’s 
opportunities for sport and activity as essential components to health. 
 
Accordingly, this council requests officers and members reviewing the local plan 
to seriously consider what a backward step it would be to use the ski slope site 
for housing, and to revisit this allocation as part of the current local plan process 
to be presented to council in September. 
 
Further, to work with GLL to develop use of the facility by the local community.” 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Rob Bridge 
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 22 JULY 2019 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 As part of the Local Government Association’s (LGA) sector led improvement 
offer, councils can agree to undertake a ‘Corporate Peer Challenge’. This 
consists of a team of councillors and senior officers from different councils 
spending a number of days gathering information, speaking to councillors, staff, 
stakeholders and customers, to form a view on how the council is performing. 

1.2 The council agreed to undertake a ‘Corporate Peer Challenge’ following 
discussions between the Chief Executive, Leader (and previous Leader), and the 
LGA.  This took place between the 21–24 January and initial findings were 
presented to political group leaders, Cabinet, ECMT and the project team.  The 
feedback report was then published on 14 March. 

1.3 The feedback report (Appendix 1) is a helpful and honest assessment of the 
council and includes seven recommendations for further improvement.  It was 
recognised that the council has undergone significant change in the last two 
years at a senior level which has led to change and focused ambition and the 
council is very much now a partner of choice. 

1.4 Following the report, an action plan has been developed (Appendix 2) which sets 
out the actions the council will now take to implement the recommendations.  To 
assist with the delivery of the action plan, the Chief Executive is discussing 
support from the East of England Local Government Association (EELGA). 

1.5 The council would like to acknowledge and thank the Peer Team for their hard 
work and focus during the four days of their visit. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 Council note the Corporate Peer Challenge feedback report and 
recommendations at Appendix 1. 

2.2 Council note and agree the Corporate Peer Challenge action plan at Appendix 2. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The LGA, as part of their sector led improvement offer, can provide ‘Corporate 
Peer Challenges’ which are managed and delivered by the sector, for the sector.  

3.2 A ‘Corporate Peer Challenge’ consists of a team of councillors and senior officers 
from different councils spending a number of days at the council gathering 

Page 49

Agenda Item 10



- 2 - 

information, speaking to councillors, staff, stakeholders and customers, to form a 
view on how the council is performing. 

3.3 The council agreed to undertake a ‘Corporate Peer Challenge’ following 
discussions between the Chief Executive, Leader and previous Leader, and the 
LGA.  This took place between 21–24 January and initial findings were presented 
to political Group Leaders, Cabinet, ECMT and the project team.  The feedback 
report was then published on 14 March. 

3.4 The Peer Team consisted of: 

 Lead Peer – Paul Shackley, Chief Executive, Rushmoor Borough Council 

 Member Peer – Cllr Duncan McGinty, Leader of Sedgemoor District Council 

 Officer Peer – Shirlene Adam, Strategic Director Operations and Deputy CEO, 
West Somerset and Taunton Deane Councils 

 Officer Peer – Hannah Thorpe, Head of Communications and Digital, Thanet 
District Council 

 Peer Challenge Manager – Kirsty Human, LGA 

3.5 During the visit the team spoke to more than 125 people, including a range of 
council staff, together with councillors and external partners and stakeholders; 
gathered information and views from more than 45 meetings; and collectively 
spent more than 233 hours to determine their findings. 

3.6 The feedback report can be seen at Appendix 1 and sets out seven 
recommendations, as follows: 

 Develop a clear vision and narrative for the Borough, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hatfield and beyond. 

 Develop a modernisation programme with clear aims, objectives and targets 
around:  Workforce;  IT and Digital;  Customer;  Communications. 

 Align the structure to deliver the above (right people, right place doing the right 
thing). 

 Modernise governance and embrace external challenge and expertise. 

 Review your approach to underspends and reserves, develop and evolve the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) to reflect the council’s direction and 
modernisation. 

 Ensure members are included in the #OneTeam approach. 

 There needs to be a coherent approach to communications and engagement 
developed through strategies linked back to your overall modernisation agenda. 

3.7 Following the publication of the report, an action plan has been developed 
(Appendix 2) to take forward and implement the recommendations.  For each 
recommendation there is a CMT sponsor and lead officers. For all of these 

Page 50



- 3 - 

recommendations, updates on progress and delivery will be given to Cabinet and 
councillors through the normal reporting mechanisms. 

3.8 The Chief Executive is also discussing with EELGA what support can be 
provided to the Council to deliver the action plan and modernisation programme. 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 None directly from this report. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications to deliver the action plan and any costs 
for support will be covered by existing budgets. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 Not delivering the action plan will impact the reputation of the council with 
stakeholders, communities, businesses and staff. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 None directly from this report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 Any EELGA support will be provided through their Talent Bank which the council 
can access as an EELGA member. 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None directly from this report. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 No direct HR implications from this report. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 None directly from this report. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 A number of the recommendations will require internal and external 
communications and engagement, and a plan will be developed for each project 
stream.  Recommendation seven will also lead to a new Communication and 
Engagement Strategy and Internal Communications strategy. 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to all of the Council’s Corporate Priorities. 

  

Page 51



- 4 - 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
 existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
 policies. 
 
 
Name of author Rob Bridge  
Title Chief Executive 
Date 12 July 2019 
 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)   

Appendices to be listed  

Appendix 1 – LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Feedback report 

Appendix 2 – WHBC 2019 Corporate Peer Challenge Action Plan 

Page 52



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Peer Challenge 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council  

21 – 24 January 2019 

Feedback Report 

Page 53

chiefexecs_nb
Typewritten Text

chiefexecs_nb_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1

chiefexecs_nb_2
Typewritten Text



 

1 

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

1. Executive Summary  
 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (WHBC) is located in central Hertfordshire between five of the 
ten Hertfordshire district/borough Councils and one London Borough. It has two distinct towns, 
Welwyn Garden City (the second garden city to be built in 1920) and Hatfield (designated as part of 
the New Towns Act 1946) in addition to eight other larger villages and settlements. With around 
79% of the borough designated as green belt, an estate management scheme governing how parts 
of Welwyn Garden City can be developed and strategic transport routes through the Borough, there 
are challenges to delivering growth and housing. 
 
The Boroughs population is estimated at 122,000 with over 70% living in the two towns. A 
significant student population attend the University of Hertfordshire, Royal Veterinary College and 
two other colleges. It is a prosperous area with few pockets of deprivation, a healthy population 
with low crime levels. Excellent transport links make it easy for people to access employment and 
as a consequence there are high levels of employment. 
 
Leadership of the Council has undergone significant change in the last two years, with a new 
management team in 2016, new Chief Executive in 2017 and three Leaders during 2018. This 
follows many years with few changes to managerial positions under the previous Chief Executive 
and Leader who served for 26 and 13 years respectively. The peer team heard from staff, 
members and partners how passionate and respected the new Chief Executive and Leader 
(including reference to the previous Leader, Cllr Perkins) are and how they have led the change 
and focused the ambition whilst continuing to deliver good services. 
 
WHBC is a partner of choice, well respected and trusted by partners, who spoke of the improved 
positive relationships built by the new leadership team and in particular by the Chief Executive in 
his discussions with the LEP, University of Hertfordshire, Business Forum, businesses and public 
sector partners. WHBC is the first local authority in the country to sign a £10.5m funding agreement 
with Homes England as part of its Accelerated Construction Programme. The Council has also 
secured over £6m from the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to assist in the 
Hatfield 2030+ transformation programme. 
 
The Council is in a strong financial position and has a proven track record of delivering savings - 
regularly delivering a balanced budget with high levels of reserves, minimal borrowing or reliance 
on reserves and has managed to protect frontline services in spite of 62% core funding reduction 
since 2010. There is a cautious approach to the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
highlighted by annual underspends and prudent income projections which need to be more closely 
aligned to the budget. More work can be done to expand the detail within reports to enhance 
understanding of the budget gap and how it will be closed and reflect the Council’s ambitions 
through its capital, investment and asset strategies but this will only strengthen what is already a 
good fiscal position. 
 
There is a motivated, dedicated and enthusiastic workforce at WHBC who are focused on 
delivering the best services to their communities. The cultural change programme - #OneTeam is 
recognised throughout the Council and progress is being made in embedding behaviours with staff 
already using them to challenge attitudes. The peer team observed that consistency is required in 
demonstrating the behaviours throughout all management tiers and with members. Developing the 
new customer services strategy was identified by the peer team as a great example of bringing 
staff and members from across the organisation to deliver a cross cutting project.  
 
The three year business plan sets out the vision, priorities, objectives and values of the Council, 
with the plan on a page recognised by staff throughout the organisation. Staff can see how their 
roles fit with the plan and what objectives they are delivering against it. The peer team felt good 

Page 54

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

2 

progress had been made with the long term narrative for Hatfield (Hatfield 2030+) but there was no 
obvious long-term narrative for Welwyn Garden City and the Borough as a whole. The business 
plan looks at the short term, mainly Council driven operational tasks. There is a need to describe 
how the Council sees the two towns and the Borough developing, what it looks and feels like over 
the longer term into 2030+ in order for staff, residents, partners and investors to see the potential 
for WHBC the place. 
 
Although there are ambitions and the will to change, there is no corporate modernisation vision or 
programme to deliver it. Individual plans, expertise and views are evident across the Council, but 
the lack of a corporate modernisation programme could result in isolated improvements within 
service areas. In order to deliver the pace of change reflected in the leadership’s ambition, the 
resources, skills and technology will need to align to deliver the vision. Governance arrangements 
will also need to match the pace of change to make the decisions needed in a timely and efficient 
way. 
 
WHBC benefits from a committed willing workforce and engaged passionate members. Now is the 
time to take opportunities to modernise, embrace change, shape your place and be fit for the 
future. Be bold and ambitious building on the cultural change programmes #OneTeam #OurFuture. 

 
2. Key recommendations  
 
There are a range of suggestions and observations within the main section of the report that will 
inform some ‘quick wins’ and practical actions, in addition to the conversations onsite, many of 
which provided ideas and examples of practice from other organisations.  The following are the 
peer team’s key recommendations to the Council: 
  

1. Develop a clear vision and narrative for the Borough, Welwyn Garden City, Hatfield 
and beyond. This is a long term vision (20/30 years+) describing what the place will look 
like - the local plan is only one element of this. Describe as a Council how the two main 
towns, the villages and the borough will look and feel. This is likely to be different for each 
area but brought together under one vision building on the great example already set by 
Hatfield 2030+.  
 

2. Develop a modernisation programme with clear aims, objectives and targets around: 
- Workforce 
- IT and Digital 
- Customer  
- Communications 
The programme will support delivery of the vision by bringing together projects under each 
of the themes with clear deliverables. Capacity, capability and resources need to be 
identified, allocated and aligned, ultimately resulting in a better customer experience. 
 

3. Align the structure to deliver the above (right people, right place doing the right 
thing)  
Develop the workforce strategy to utilise the skills already in-house but also don’t be afraid 
to buy in or ask for help from others to deliver in more specialist areas, particularly in 
relation to regeneration and modernisation. 
 

4. Modernise governance and embrace external challenge and expertise  
Brave first step in allowing the peer team to share their views. Continue this reflection and 
use it to support decision making and top team development.  
 

Page 55

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

3 

5. Review your approach to underspends and reserves, develop and evolve the MTFS 
to reflect the Council’s direction and modernisation 
Review the base budget and hit “reset”, articulate savings, income and risk strategies and 
earmark resources to enable change to happen. 
 

6. Ensure members are included in the #OneTeam approach  
The politicians are part of the overall team and want to be included. You are all in it together 
delivering for the residents of WHBC. 
 

7. There needs to be a coherent approach to communications and engagement 
developed through strategies linked back to your overall modernisation agenda 
Align the communications strategy with the modernisation plan, review how and when you 
engage with all stakeholders and broaden your approach. 

Page 56

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

4 

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

3. Summary of the Peer Challenge approach  
 

The peer team  
 
Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers. The make-
up of the peer team reflected your requirements and the focus of the peer challenge. Peers 
were selected on the basis of their relevant experience and expertise and agreed with you.  
The peers who delivered the peer challenge at Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (WHBC) 
were: 
 

• Lead Peer - Paul Shackley, Chief Executive, Rushmoor Borough Council 
• Member Peer (Conservative) - Cllr Duncan McGinty, Leader of Sedgemoor District 

Council 
• Officer Peer - Shirlene Adam, Strategic Director Operations and Deputy CEO, West 

Somerset and Taunton Deane Councils 
• Officer Peer - Hannah Thorpe, Head of Communications and Digital, Thanet District 

Council 
• Peer Challenge Manager - Kirsty Human, LGA 
 

Scope and focus 
 
The peer team considered the following five questions which form the core components looked 
at by all Corporate Peer Challenges. These are the areas we believe are critical to Councils’ 
performance and improvement:   
 

1. Understanding of the local place and priority setting: Does the Council understand its 
local context and place and use that to inform a clear vision and set of priorities? 
 

2. Leadership of Place: Does the Council provide effective leadership of place through its 
elected members, officers and constructive relationships and partnerships with external 
stakeholders? 
 

3. Organisational leadership and governance: Is there effective political and managerial 
leadership supported by good governance and decision-making arrangements that 
respond to key challenges and enable change and transformation to be implemented? 
 

4. Financial planning and viability: Does the Council have a financial plan in place to 
ensure long term viability and is there evidence that it is being implemented 
successfully? 
 

5. Capacity to deliver: Is organisational capacity aligned with priorities and does the 
Council influence, enable and leverage external capacity to focus on agreed outcomes? 

 
In addition to these questions, you asked the peer team to provide observations and feedback 
on: 
 

6. Whether the Council could improve its communication methods to proactively engage 
with the public and improve trust and relationships 

 

The peer challenge process 
 

It is important to stress that this was not an inspection. Peer challenges are improvement focussed 
and tailored to meet individual Councils’ needs. They are designed to complement and add value 

Page 57

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

5 

to a Council’s own performance and improvement. The process is not designed to provide an in-
depth or technical assessment of plans and proposals. The peer team used their experience and 
knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by people they met, 
things they saw and material that they read.  
 
The peer team prepared for the peer challenge by reviewing a range of documents and 
information in order to ensure they were familiar with the Council and the challenges it is facing.  
The team then spent four days onsite at WHBC, during which they: 
 

 Spoke to more than 125 people including a range of Council staff together with 
councillors and external partners and stakeholders. 

 

 Gathered information and views from more than 45 meetings, visits to key sites in the 
area and additional research and reading. 
 

 Collectively spent more than 233 hours to determine their findings – the equivalent of 
one person spending more than 6 weeks in WHBC.   

 
This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings. It builds on the feedback 
presentation provided by the peer team at the end of their on-site visit (24th January 2019). In 
presenting feedback to you, they have done so as fellow local government officers and 
members, not professional consultants or inspectors. By its nature, the peer challenge is a 
snapshot in time. We appreciate that some of the feedback may be about things you are already 
addressing and progressing. 

Page 58

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

6 

4. Feedback  
 
4.1 Understanding of the local place and priority setting  

 
WHBC demonstrates it understands its place and recognises the real strengths of the area – its 
connectivity with the wider region and the economic growth opportunities this brings. Welwyn 
Hatfield has a strong heritage in the aviation sector with British Aerospace based and providing 
employment in the Borough for many years. After its closure in the 1990’s a major regeneration 
project commenced and delivered some 2000 homes a new University campus, neighbourhood 
centre, primary school, community facilities and business/employment premises - Its economic 
development work builds on these assets. The Council has ambitious plans for the regeneration 
of both Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield town centres.  
 
The Council’s business plan sets out the Council’s overall vision, priorities, objectives and 
values for the next three years. It is set around five key themes of community, environment, 
housing, economy and Council. An annual action plan details how the key activities will be 
delivered and monitors performance against them. The new “plan on a page” helps publicise the 
business plan in a clear and succinct way to staff and residents as was demonstrated by many 
people the peer team spoke to. Along with many Councils who have elections in thirds, this 
helps to plan for the short to medium term. 
 
The business plan was developed though member workshops, Corporate Management Team 
(CMT) sessions and engagement with service teams. It pulls together key statistics for the 
Borough and aims to address the key issues. The peer team questioned whether the plan fully 
addresses the needs of all residents given that it was only shared with the Borough panel who 
were asked if they agreed with it. It is unlikely they would disagree with reducing crime, 
providing affordable housing and supporting local sport and leisure but there may have been 
other priorities if the Council had engaged further. Whilst the Borough Panel and Tenants Panel 
are valuable sounding boards they are not representative of the Borough as a whole. The 
outreach, community based staff spoken to by the peer team really know their communities. 
They are using needs based evidence to deliver their projects in the community and are a great 
asset to WHBC. These staff should be used to help shape future Borough wide consultation and 
engagement to ensure a wider range of voices are heard.  

.  
To strengthen its priority setting processes and deliver improved outcomes, the Council should 
develop, with its communities and partners, a clear “place narrative” for Welwyn Hatfield, linked 
to the long term vision which articulates what the Borough will look and feel like over the longer 
term and how people can engage with it. The Hatfield 2030+ renewal project is a good example 
of how the vision for a place can be promoted with key stakeholders. This needs to be 
replicated for Welwyn Garden City and the Borough as a whole and driven by WHBC as 
community leaders. The social aspects of place e.g. health, education and community 
development need to be included and linked to the physical environment/development (local 
plan). Once the long term vision is in place, the three year plan and service objectives can be 
aligned to ensure resources and investment are allocated.  
 
WHBC is an ambitious Council with aspirations to regenerate, develop and acquire 
property/assets in the Borough, with any financial benefits achieved to be reinvested back into 
supporting Council services, projects include: 

 Retail/commercial acquisitions in both Hatfield and Welwyn Garden City - this year are 
expected to draw in circa £600k in rental income to the Council. Further capital has been 
allocated to make more purchases.  

 Regeneration plans for Hatfield, Welwyn Garden City, High View development and 
development of another business incubator hub in the Borough. 

Page 59

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

7 

 Two garage sites (Lilac and Limetree Close) have been developed to provide 29 
affordable homes for local people as part of the Council’s ambitious affordable housing 
programme.  

 
In the context of ever reducing government funding, the investment strategy will only go so far to 
help address budget deficits. The peer team felt the Council needed to modernise to keep up 
with the changing local government environment. This includes looking at what skills are 
required within the workforce, what digital infrastructure and soft/hardware will make processes 
more efficient, matching the needs/wants of your customers and ensuring the right 
communications channels are being used for different stakeholders. The new customer services 
strategy is a great first step and the peer team were impressed by how this had been driven and 
developed across every service at all levels. Combining this within a modernisation programme 
which addresses all themes will support WHBC to reduce the budget gap in the future. . 
 
4.2  Leadership of Place 

 
The Council’s Leadership team is relatively new and partners see this as an opportunity to 
refresh and build on already established relationships. WHBC is a well-regarded partner across 
the public, private and voluntary sectors - a partner of choice, it has worked hard to develop 
relationships with key stakeholders including Tesco, the LEP, Business Forum, Police and 
University of Hertfordshire. The Chief Executive has influence at the Hertfordshire County Chief 
Executives Group and is voicing the priorities of WHBC. Enhanced relationships with the other 
Districts, Boroughs and County Council have also been developed over the past eighteen 
months - demonstrated by cross boarder developments with East Hertfordshire, Stevenage and 
prevention projects with the County. Everyone the peer team spoke to were positive about 
WHBCs relationships with them but recognised there was still more to do. 
 
The Hatfield Renewal Partnership (HRP) is a good example of a stakeholder steering group 
helping to drive change in Hatfield. The Hatfield 2030+ vision and “book of opportunity” clearly 
articulate what ambition there is for the town, how partners are working together to deliver this 
and how communities can get involved. This is raising the profile of the Borough, attracting 
investment, and building pride amongst residents. WHBC now need to take the lead as the 
community leader and drive this vision into reality in order to maintain pace, expectations and 
credibility. The peer team heard from residents and partners that they would like to see a faster 
pace of delivery - they need to see some action on the ground to keep up the interest. 
 
WHBC has ambitious regeneration plans for the Borough overseen by the Regeneration Group. 
The list of projects is extensive, and funding has been drawn in from the LEP, Homes England 
and development partners to assist delivery. These projects need to underpin the narrative and 
vision for the Borough – align them to the objectives and be clear about what they are delivering 
against. Taking a programme management approach will ensure they are delivered in the most 
efficient, cost effective way and the outcomes/benefits will be easy to measure.  
 
Partners want to work with WHBC – many spoke to the peer team about opportunities for 
collaboration on a range of issues. Seize this as a chance to drive the WHBC agenda. Work 
with your partners and public sector neighbours to deliver your shared priorities on health, 
education, housing, connectivity and economy. The proposed North, East and Central 
Hertfordshire place shaping group provides further prospects for strategic and long term place 
shaping – be influential in this. 
 
The Welwyn Garden City Centenary event in 2020 provides a unique opportunity to look 
forward, showcase the Borough and attract investment. At the moment there are lots of events, 
activities, and horticultural improvements planned to celebrate different aspects of the town, all 
organised by different groups. Make the most of being in the national spotlight to promote the 

Page 60

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

8 

Borough as a whole, show others what WHBC will look like in another 100 years and why they 
should come and invest. It doesn’t require significant resources and presents an opportunity too 
good to miss.   

 
4.3 Organisational leadership and governance 
 
The new Chief Executive and Leader have both brought enthusiasm and pace. There is a 
recognition of the need to develop a more flexible and responsive organisation which can adapt 
more quickly and one which will be financially sustainable in the longer term. A new set of 
behaviours, changes to the management structure and the introduction of “OneTeam” has set 
the tone and begun to change the culture from the top down. A noticeably stronger collaborative 
relationship is being developed between officers and members with greater transparency.  
 
The Council is conservative led with a small two seat majority but there is cross party 
engagement on issues with back benchers able to influence policy development through the 
cabinet panels, scrutiny committees and cross party task and finish groups. Portfolio holders 
have roles on multi-disciplinary project teams e.g. Customer Services Strategy and Technology 
Users Group which ensures their views and those of the electorate are feeding into 
improvements. Members know their patches and can make the views of their electorate known 
for example through debate over the location of future housing for the Borough. Whilst it is 
important to reflect local views, there will always be differences of opinion and there needs to be 
a collective responsibility to delivering the Council’s longer term vision. 
 
Staff, members and partners all recognise a change in leadership style and are willing and open 
to engage with this agenda. The Council benefits from a positive relationship with the Union. A 
recent survey completed by 60% of staff shows enviable results: 

- 90% agreed WHBC is a good place to work 
- 92% got satisfaction from their work 
- Almost 9 in 10 understood the Council’s priorities, objectives and what their services were 

trying to achieve.  
These results were backed up by staff who spoke to the peer team. It was clear to see that the 
implementation of #OneTeam is going well and is understood by officers at all levels. The “plan 
on a page” had helped staff to see how their work contributed to the Council’s overall vision and 
ambitions.  
 
The survey also found that it was not always easy to gain “sufficient support” from other service 
areas with over a third of staff identifying this as an area for improvement. The peer team saw 
and heard examples of some “silo” working and recommend the Council continues to embed 
#OneTeam to achieve consistency of message and behaviours across services including within 
all contracted services – some of which are your frontline. #OneTeam would also be 
strengthened by including elected members as they are also part of the WHBC team.  
 
Efficient processes exist for managing and reporting on risk, performance and projects. Regular 
performance clinics and reports to members and CMT ensure there is oversight at all levels.  
Implementation of the Clearview performance/risk management software system has reinforced 
the importance of this with service heads and CMT. Further development of the system and its 
reports will consolidate the Council’s strategic risk management arrangements.  
 
There is a need for CMT to now drive the development of the strategic vision, the modernisation 
programme and external image of WHBC. Working together to shape these will enable heads of 
service and service managers to deliver business as usual and priority projects. Cross service 
steering groups have already delivered corporate projects e.g. customer service principles, 
equality scheme, town centre corporate group, regeneration group and the re-integration of 

Page 61

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

9 

housing. By empowering managers to lead such projects, CMT will have the capacity to take on 
the leadership role required.  
 
The Corporate Director for Public Protection, Planning & Governance has started a review of 
WHBCs constitution and this was identified as a good first step in supporting the Council to 
become more agile and modern. Modernising the constitution to reflect the Council’s ambition - 
particularly member/officer scheme of delegation will help to deliver the vision, aims and speed 
up decision making. Work is needed to identify risk appetite and the parameters that are 
acceptable to members. Involving members in the development of appropriate processes, they 
can be confident the right decisions are being made through delegation.  
 
4.4 Financial planning and viability 
 
WHBC is in a strong financial position providing a stable foundation to deliver on the ambition 
and priorities set out in its Business Plan. The Council has consistently delivered a balanced 
budget with minimal use of reserves to prop up day to day spending. Admirably throughout 
recent times of reduction in funding for local government, frontline services to the community of 
WHBC have been protected. The Council has demonstrated it has a good track record of 
delivering savings and can take difficult decisions (e.g. to introduce charging for green waste) 
and has started to develop new income streams through investment in property.   
 
There are however regular underspends. The reported underspend of £2.3m against net 
controllable income and expenditure in 2017/18 reflects several transfers to reserves, including 
the significant impact of timing differences on business rates. The true net service underspend 
in 2017/18 was actually £470k, and likely to be around £300k in 2018/19. Although service 
underspends bring positive impact on the General Fund Reserve, it suggests that expenditure 
budgets could be reviewed and income projections updated. The peer team felt the base budget 
could be adjusted and “reset” to reflect any underlying issues. The s151 officer is already 
progressing this as part of her robust budget management approach. This will allow the Council 
to have a stronger base budget position from which to move forward from.  
 
The 2019/20 budget has been presented for members to consider and shows a balanced fiscal 
position. Beyond next year, the MTFS projects a £1.5m deficit for 2020/21, which increases 
slightly the following year. Whilst this message has landed in the organisation and is understood 
by all, what this budget reduction actually means (in terms of specific changes to the 
organisation) has not been clearly articulated. There could also be clarity over resourcing the 
Council’s capital programme ambitions. Using Capital receipts and New Homes Bonus to fund 
the routine elements is reasonable but the peer team suggests borrowing plans are developed 
further to fund future ambitious needs. 
 
The member briefing on the budget and the “Team Talk” budget special were well received and 
are good examples of communications tools which could be repeated regularly to explain the 
MTFS and widen organisational understanding of the financial challenges facing the Council.   
 
Despite the challenges, the ambition to continue to protect front-line services is clear. Whilst 
ideas are developing to resolve the £1.5m gap, these have not been formalised or agreed. The 
MTFS now needs to be developed to include more detail on the “solutions” to the identified gap. 
The MTFS needs to develop to become a “live” document that is continually updated to reflect 
known national risks, for example the likely changes to funding streams from the Fair Funding 
Review, The Spending Review, The Business Rates Retention Review, and New Homes Bonus 
regime - as well as local risks - the reliance in 2019/20 on income streams from assets not yet 
developed, the timing of property acquisitions and development.  
  

Page 62

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

10 

Sound financial and performance management processes exist at WHBC. There are regular 
systems for reporting to senior officers and members - via monthly/quarterly Cabinet, Resources 
and Overview Scrutiny meetings, performance clinics and informal budget holder discussions. 
The reports could be further enhanced by ensuring they report progress on key budget savings 
targets. For example there are £1.7m of savings identified in the 2018/19 budget (with a total 
£981k identified from specific service areas).  It would be good to report and track progress 
against these to further improve transparency. 
 
WHBC is fortunate to have a high level of unallocated General Fund Reserves (£8.6m against 
£2.7m minimum level) – over three times higher than the minimum level identified by the s151 
officer. With recognised risks around business rate income, new homes bonus forecasts and 
income projections it would be prudent to consider allocating some of this unallocated General 
Fund Reserve to specific Earmarked Reserves for these purposes.  This would give assurance 
that these key risks can be managed, and any impact “smoothed” for the taxpayer.    
  
The Council has been successful in drawing in external funding to develop the capital 
programme. Partners including Homes England and the LEP have awarded over £16m towards 
developments in Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield. Opportunities also lie ahead as part of the 
Hertfordshire business rates retention pilot. This is a great chance to get more money from 
central government into the local community of WHBC.  
  
There is an opportunity to develop the existing Capital and Investment Strategy and Capital 
Programme – to better reflect the regeneration and growth ambition of WHBC. At present there 
are lots of projects included in the capital programme and the capital strategy could be 
strengthened by explaining why projects are included, and how the Council has managed the 
priorities between capital and revenue. Aligning the priorities with the narrative and vision for the 
borough reinforces that WHBC is delivering what is needed.  
 
Investment will be needed to make the changes outlined in the new modernisation vision and 
programme, the capital and investment strategies need to set out how this will be funded. The 
Asset Strategy needs to clarify the long term vision for all asset holdings. The peer team 
recognise the community value in the assets held, but also acknowledge the financial 
challenges facing the Council. Progressing options appraisals on key assets will help the 
Council decide the best route forward – whether that is to keep as is, modernise, sell, look at 
different operating arrangements – all will help the Council develop its thinking and ensure value 
for money on assets.   
 
Moving these recommendations forward would put WHBC in an even stronger financial position 
and help ensure it can keep delivering good services to its community. 

 
4.5 Capacity to deliver 
 
WHBC has a committed, enthusiastic and willing workforce who are a credit to the organisation. 
Sickness levels are below the national average and 90% of staff surveyed are happy to work for 
the Council. Turnover was higher than average last year but this can be partly attributed to a 
number of voluntary redundancies in one service area. Recruitment and retention however is a 
challenge partly due to the Council’s proximity to London and surrounded by other local 
authorities with good transport routes between (staff can switch between Councils easily). It was 
evident to the peer team that partners definitely want to work with the Council. By clarifying the 
long term vision for WHBC it will be easier for them to identify opportunities for joint working. 
The Council should take a lead role in these negotiations to ensure its priorities are delivered as 
well as those of partners. 
 

Page 63

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

11 

WHBC shows an openness to new ways of working, it has been successful in drawing in 
external funding (Homes England, LEP, Development partners), shares a number of services 
with partners including building control and recycling, is making strategic property investments 
and whilst the team were on site members agreed to set up a new housing company. The 
Council is well staffed (over 390 FTEs) but the peer team would challenge whether resources 
are appropriately aligned to deliver the ambition/vision particularly in relation to regeneration, 
growth and modernisation. Pockets of expertise exist in the Council for example the peer team 
heard that the transfer of the housing service back into the Council was carried out smoothly 
and was led effectively by the Corporate Director and her team. This experience could be 
utilised in other areas. 
 
The peer team observed a desire from staff to “take breath” and have time to reflect - share 
successes and lessons learned before moving on to the next project. Project management 
processes were evident but varied across services – a corporate project management 
framework would help to deliver consistency and provide the right environment for the “pause” 
to take place. 
 
WHBC has many contracted services including ICT, contact centre, revenues and benefits, 
leisure, housing repairs and waste collection. It would be prudent to take the opportunity to 
review contracted out services in good time before they come up for renewal in the context of 
modernisation and #OneTeam - everyone needs to be lined up behind it. Options appraisals will 
help support decision making around these issues.  
 
The peer team saw sight of a draft workforce development strategy. It is recommended that 
further development of this be put on hold until the Council is clear what its modernisation 
programme looks like. The workforce strategy should be linked to priorities that underpin the 
modernisation programme and identify the long term capabilities that will be required for a 
modern workforce #OurFuture. An ICT and digital strategy also needs to be developed and 
owned to enable more efficient delivery of services - including support for members. The peer 
team heard lots of comments about how Wi-Fi doesn’t work around the building, that there are 
many different software solutions that are unable to work collaboratively and that improvements 
could make the Council work more efficiently, improve customer experiences and allow for more 
flexible working.  
 
The workforce strategy can address the recruitment and retention issue by identifying the 
Council’s USP to attract the best candidates. What does WHBC want to be known for? What 
would make the Council an employer of choice? Investing in a leadership/development 
programme to support the modernisation programme will also help with this. Although staff are 
happy, there are few development opportunities at present. The Council should consider 
investing in a programme of development for a cohort of talented aspiring staff. CMT and 
Cabinet may also benefit from some external support in helping them develop the ambition, 
vision and modernisation programme.  
 
4.6  Communications and community engagement 

 
In addition to the five core areas, the Council asked the peer team to comment on whether it 
could improve its communication methods to proactively engage with the public and improve 
trust and relationships.  
 
WHBC has a comprehensive approach to communications, using many different channels and 
becoming more direct publishers of its own content. A shift to digital communications has begun 
with some positive examples - new news portal “One Welwyn Hatfield” about to be launched, 
and will need to be developed further. The communications team is in a healthy position, 
sufficiently resourced with the humility to know where they need to improve. Having a cabinet 

Page 64

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

12 

member portfolio holder who has worked in the media industry is a valuable asset. There is a 
willingness from staff to work with the communications team in preparing public messages, 
campaigns and publicity material. It was clear that staff feel well informed – the peer team saw 
many posters, hand outs and online methods of communication e.g. team talk, a view from the 
bridge, team focus etc. Whilst this is all positive the peer team heard that key messages can get 
lost in the “noise” and suggest the frequency and focus of briefings be reviewed to ensure staff 
don’t feel overloaded with information and that essential information is filtering through. Having 
a communications strategy aligned to the overall organisational vision will help to define what 
key messages should be clearly articulated to staff. 
 
Allowing communications personnel to access and advise decision makers by attending 
strategic meetings such as pre-cabinet, CMT and directorate team meetings is an example of 
good practice not always seen in all Councils. This involvement can really help to develop 
strategies and manage the Council’s delivery of difficult messages. The publicity around the 
recent poplar tree cutting was an example cited that enabled the communications team to 
prepare and deliver public messages in a clear concise way that landed well with residents.  
 
WHBC has a track record of engaging with residents over issues affecting the Borough. The 
local plan is an example of this. Although residents might not always agree with what is being 
proposed they appreciate the opportunity to have their say. The Tenants Panel is a well-run, 
well informed and valuable sounding board for tenant related issues. The methods of 
engagement used are extensive and the introduction of “texting” has been positively received. 
The panel said “we feel we are making a difference”. The Business Forum also cited the recent 
business survey as an important step forward in understanding the needs of the business 
community. The results were not published at the time of the peer visit but partners have high 
hopes of the rich data this will provide.    

 
Engagement more widely across the Borough is however variable. Skills exist in different 
service areas and residents are being surveyed on specific issues within their localities. It was 
clear to the peer team that community based officers are experienced and knowledgeable, know 
their patch and hold a wealth of information.  Adopting a corporate and consistent approach to 
engagement harnessing the skills and knowledge identified would enhance the Council’s ability 
to shape future vision, priorities and objectives and focus on the quality of engagement. The 
Council also needs to differentiate better between communication and engagement – shape 
methods and approaches according to the drivers.  
 
The Borough Panel is used to test public opinion on a range of Council services, improvements 
and strategies. Whilst this is valuable and should continue, residents on the panel are not 
necessarily representative of the Borough as a whole. Broadening your reach across the 
Borough to engage with a wider demographic/audience - especially around place shaping and 
budget setting would validate decision making based on a more diverse and balanced range of 
opinions. When preparing questions for consultation, make sure they focus on what you want to 
know. Provide consultees with background information, give options and allow for new ideas. 
The example cited earlier around how the Borough Panel were asked views on the business 
plan did not allow for ideas, only justification for what was being proposed. Similarly the peer 
team heard how consultation on the introduction of the green waste charging, whilst essential, 
could have been approached differently to explain more fully why the proposals were being put 
forward which may have achieved more positive results.  
 
When the peer team met with the Borough Panel it was the first time they had met, been invited 
to the Council and asked face to face for their views. Obtaining views via electronic methods is 
quick, easy to evaluate and controllable. There is however value in some qualitative personal 
approaches around specific issues that WHBC may want to consider in the future. The Borough 
Panel would certainly welcome this along with regular feedback (possibly via an end of year 

Page 65

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

13 

review) to all consultees on how their views are being used – you said – we did. This will also 
enable the Council to build up trust with residents.  
 
A communications strategy is being developed - it is important not to create this in isolation - it 
needs to develop and support the Council’s ambition and modernisation journey to ensure 
consistent, clear and focused messages throughout all corporate strategies. Within the strategy, 
outline who you want to engage with, why and what the best method is. The peer team were 
encouraged by awareness amongst communications officers of audience segmentation but this 
now needs to be implemented and explained within the strategy.  

 
 

5 Next steps  

 
Immediate next steps  
 
We appreciate the senior managerial and political leadership will want to reflect on these 
findings and suggestions in order to determine how the organisation wishes to take things 
forward.  
 
As part of the peer challenge process, there is an offer of further activity to support this. The 
LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice and guidance on a number of the areas 
for development and improvement and we would be happy to discuss this.  Rachel Litherland, 
Principal Adviser is the main contact between your authority and the Local Government 
Association (LGA). Her contact details are: Email Rachel.litherland@local.gov.uk  
 
In the meantime we are keen to continue the relationship we have formed with the Council 
throughout the peer challenge.  We will endeavour to provide signposting to examples of 
practice and further information and guidance about the issues we have raised in this report to 
help inform ongoing consideration.  
 
Follow up visit  
 
The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge process includes a follow up visit. The purpose of the visit 
is to help the Council assess the impact of the peer challenge and demonstrate the progress it 
has made against the areas of improvement and development identified by the peer team. It is a 
lighter-touch version of the original visit and does not necessarily involve all members of the 
original peer team. The timing of the visit is determined by the Council.  Our expectation is that it 
will occur within the next 2 years.  
 
Next Corporate Peer Challenge 
 
The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all Councils 
will have a Corporate Peer Challenge or Finance Peer Review every 4 to 5 years.  It is therefore 
anticipated that the Council will commission their next Peer Challenge before 2023.  
 

Page 66

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:Rachel.litherland@local.gov.uk


Appendix 2 
 

WHBC Corporate Peer Challenge Action Plan 

 
Key Recommendations 
 

 
WHBC Action:  

 
1. Develop a clear vision and narrative for the 

Borough, Welwyn Garden City, Hatfield and 
beyond.  
This is a long term vision (20/30 years+) 
describing what the place will look like - the local 
plan is only one element of this. Describe as a 
Council how the two main towns, the villages and 
the borough will look and feel. This is likely to be 
different for each area but brought together under 
one vision building on the great example already 
set by Hatfield 2030+.  

 
 
 

 

 Use the Regeneration Group to 
develop a draft vision and 
narrative for the Borough, 
Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield. 

 Engage with key stakeholders, 
councillors, the communities and 
businesses on the draft vision 
and narrative and incorporate 
views and suggestions. 

 Adopt the new narrative and 
vision. 

 
CMT Sponsor: Simone Russell 
Lead officers: Head of Planning & Head 
of Community and Housing Strategy 

 
2. Develop a modernisation programme with 

clear aims, objectives and targets around: - 
Workforce - IT and Digital - Customer - 
Communications  
The programme will support delivery of the vision 
by bringing together projects under each of the 
themes with clear deliverables. Capacity, 
capability and resources need to be identified, 
allocated and aligned, ultimately resulting in a 
better customer experience. 
 
 

 

 

 Brand and launch #OurFuture 
programme. 

 Agree modernisation programme 
governance. 

 Set up officer Modernisation 
Board and Modernisation Delivery 
Groups. 

 Develop comprehensive and 
resourced modernisation 
programme. 

 
CMT Sponsor: Rob Bridge 
Lead officers: All Corporate Directors 

 
3. Align the structure to deliver the above (right 

people, right place doing the right thing)  
Develop the workforce strategy to utilise the skills 
already in-house but also don’t be afraid to buy in 
or ask for help from others to deliver in more 
specialist areas, particularly in relation to 
regeneration and modernisation.  
 

 

 

 Develop new Workforce Strategy 
to support the Modernisation 
Programme. 

 Review and align structure of the 
council to deliver a sustainable 
modern organisation. 

 
CMT Sponsor: Rob Bridge 
Lead Officers: All Corporate Directors 

 
4. Modernise governance and embrace external 

challenge and expertise  
Brave first step in allowing the peer team to share 
their views. Continue this reflection and use it to 
support decision making and top team 
development. 
 
 

 

 Review all governance 
arrangements of the council using 
the Constitution Review Group as 
appropriate. 

 Make appropriate 
recommendations to Council. 

 Review and develop Project 
Management Framework for the 

Page 67



Appendix 2 
 

 Council. 
 
CMT Sponsor: Nick Long 
Lead Officers: Head of Law and 
Administration & Head of Resources 

 
5. Review your approach to underspends and 

reserves, develop and evolve the MTFS to 
reflect the Council’s direction and 
modernisation  
Review the base budget and hit “reset”, articulate 
savings, income and risk strategies and earmark 
resources to enable change to happen. 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 Analyse all base budgets and 
spending trends to enable budget 
reset in advance of 2020/21 

 Review MTFS to support the 
Modernisation Programme and to 
include the impact of the 
Spending and Fair Funding 
Review. 

 Review of the Capital Strategy to 
support the delivery of the new 
vision and narrative of the 
borough. 

 
CMT Sponsor: Ka Ng 
Lead Officers: Head of Resources & 
Head of Housing Operations 

 
6. Ensure members are included in the 

#OneTeam approach  
The politicians are part of the overall team and 
want to be included. You are all in it together 
delivering for the residents of WHBC. 
 
 

 

 Incorporate #OneTeam approach 
into the Member Development 
Programme and incorporate into 
the Member Code of Conduct. 

 
CMT Sponsor: Nick Long 
Lead Officer: Head of Law and 
Administration 

 
7. There needs to be a coherent approach to 

communications and engagement developed 
through strategies linked back to your overall 
modernisation agenda  
Align the communications strategy with the 
modernisation plan, review how and when you 
engage with all stakeholders and broaden your 
approach. 
 
 

 

 Develop a Communication and 
Engagement Strategy to support 
all part of the Peer Review Action 
plan. 

 Consult on the strategy with key 
stakeholders. 

 Adopt the strategy. 

 Develop and adopt an Internal 
Communications strategy.  

 
CMT Sponsor: Ka Ng 
Lead Officers: Head of Policy and 
Culture & Head of Community and 
Housing Strategy 

 

Page 68


	Agenda
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8a Food Safety Service Plan 2019/20
	8a - food committee report 2019 20

	8b Health and Safety Service Plan 2019/20
	8b - health and safety committe report 2019 20

	8c Animal Activities Licensing Fees
	5 EOSC Report Animal Fees June 2019
	5a Fees Appendix A EOSC June 2019
	5b Star Rating Appendix B EOSC June 2019
	5c Risk Score Appendix C EOSC 2019

	8d Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2019-2024
	13 - Housing Homelessness Strategy Report 06 19

	9 NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 16
	10 WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE
	10a - WHCPC report for council App 1
	10b - 2019 Corporate Peer Challenge Action Table




